THE STATE OF --HIGHER EDUCATION-IN CALIFORNIA





The Campaign for College Opportunity Increasing college graduates to strengthen California ASIAN AMERICANS NATIVE HAWAIIANS PACIFIC ISLANDERS



CONTENTS

Introduction	3
Recommendations	4
Black Population in California	5
Educational Attainment	6
Some College, No Degree	7
College Enrollment	10
First-Time Freshmen Enrollment	11
Transfer Student Enrollment	12
Barriers to College Access	13
College Completion	20
California Community Colleges	20
California State University	21
University of California	23
Barriers to College Completion	25
A Note About Assessment Tests	26
Recommendations	30
Conclusion	33
About This Report	34
Acknowledgments	34
Methodology	35
Infographic Notes and Sources	35
Endnotes	36

Note about the terms "Black" and "African American"

Z

We use the term "Black" to include both individuals who identify as African American and also individuals from the African diaspora who may not consider themselves African American because of their families' more recent immigration (usually 3 generations or less) from ethnic homelands such as Trinidad, Jamaica, and Belize, to name a few.

INTRODUCTION

California is home to the fifth-largest Black population in the United States. Roughly three-fourths of Black Californians live in six counties (Alameda, Los Angeles, Riverside, Sacramento, San Bernardino, and San Diego) with more than one-third residing in Los Angeles County alone.

This report finds that Black Californians have improved their educational outcomes over the last couple of decades. Black adults today are more likely to have a high school diploma and a college degree than in 1990. Black students are also more likely to graduate from high school and college today than they were ten years ago.

However, compared to the major four racial/ethnic groups in California, Blacks still experience significant opportunity gaps. For example, 23 percent of working-age Black adults in California have a bachelor's degree or higher compared to 42 percent of White adults. Black adults are the most likely to have attended some college but left without earning a degree. Black youth overwhelmingly attend lower performing elementary through high schools characterized by lower than average test scores, inexperienced teachers, lower levels of resources and funding, and insufficient counselors. As a result, Black high school students are less likely than students from most other racial/ethnic groups to graduate from high school and to do so having completed the sequence of A-G coursework that makes them eligible to apply to California's public four-year universities. When they do arrive in college, Black students are most likely to be placed into pre-college level coursework, the least likely to graduate from college, and the most likely to enroll in for-profit colleges which have traditionally poor rates of student success and in some cases high costs and student debt levels.

The number of Black students enrolling in college was steadily increasing up until the Great Recession when deep state funding cuts to public higher education budgets were enacted. Unfortunately, these cuts seem to have had a disproportionate negative impact on Black students for whom college enrollment rates declined sharply after 2007, especially at the California State University (CSU) system—both in freshmen and transfer enrollment. Even before these budget cuts, Black students were substantially underrepresented at the University of California (UC) system, a fact that still persists today. The data reveals troubling gaps and disparities in student success by race/ethnicity that are often driven by funding, policy, and institutional weaknesses—and not simply the dedication of individual students. These include inadequate preparation from high school, a broken remedial education system in college, and the consequences of significant funding cuts to our public colleges and universities institutions that play a significant role in college degree attainment for the majority of Black students in California.

As a state, we have fallen short on our promise of offering all residents equal access to and opportunity for advancement through education. A concerted, strategic effort among California's policy makers, institutional leaders, and community-based organizations will be critical to the process of reversing these negative trends and continuing the progress that has already been made.

Federal reporting requirements on race and ethnicity:

In fall 2009, the way in which all colleges and universities in the United States collect and report student race and ethnicity information to the U.S. Department of Education (i.e., IPEDS) changed (see 72 Fed. Reg. 59267). After 2009, colleges were required to collect student race and ethnicity via a two-tiered process in which students were first asked if they were of Hispanic origin or if they were a Non-Resident Alien. Next, they were asked to select any one of the following racial categories: White; Black or African American; American Indian or Alaska Native: Asian: Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander; Two or More Races. If students first selected "Hispanic" or "Non-Resident Alien" then they were categorized as such regardless of their race category. If students selected "non-Hispanic" and did not indicate that they were a Non-Resident Alien they were categorized as their race category.

Prior to 2009, colleges reported student race and ethnicity using the following categories: Hispanic; White-non-Hispanic; Black-non Hispanic; American Indian/Alaska Native; Asian/ Pacific Islander, Non-Resident Alien or Race and Ethnicity Unknown.

This reporting change may result in analysis that does not capture Black students of Hispanic descent—an issue true for all other racial groups who identify as Hispanic and are now solely captured in that category—and students who identify as Black in combination with another race. In addition, as the multi-racial population continues to grow, another layer of complexity is added to the analysis of race and ethnicity. As such, data comparing student counts over time (i.e., pre- and post-2009) should be understood in this context.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Closing gaps in access and success across racial/ethnic groups is critical for California. As a majority-minority state, the success of all racial/ethnic groups is essential for a strong economy and vibrant civil society.

The Campaign for College Opportunity proposes the following recommendations for policymakers, college leaders, and students and families so that we can secure California's economic future by significantly improving our education system for all Californians and specifically increasing college enrollment and graduation among Black students. Our success in doing so not only strengthens the opportunity and future of Black Californians, but that of our state, and especially impacts key regions where many Blacks live.

- 1. Create a statewide plan for higher education.
- 2. Ensure colleges successfully move students through pre-college level courses, quickly and with improved retention rates.
- 3. Provide clear transfer pathways to four-year degrees.
- 4. Identify and re-enroll adults with some college but no certificate or degree.
- 5. Expand college knowledge in middle and high school and invest in support services students need to succeed.
- 6. Fund colleges for both enrollment growth and successful outcomes.
- 7. Strengthen financial support options for low- to moderate- income college students.
- 8. Allow California's public universities to use race/ ethnicity as one of many factors in weighing an applicants' qualifications for admission.



BLACK POPULATION IN CALIFORNIA

Fifth largest in the country

California is the most populous state in the country with an estimated 38.5 million residents.¹ Even though the Black population makes up a small proportion of the state's overall population (5.8 percent), there are more than 2.16 million Black residents in California—the fifth largest Black population in the country (Figure 1). California is home to a larger Black community than states with historically high proportions of Black residents such as Alabama, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee.

Roughly three-fourths of the state's Black population live in six counties: Alameda, Los Angeles, Riverside, Sacramento, San Bernardino, and San Diego. Almost 800,000 Black Californians reside in Los Angeles County alone (more than one-third of the state's Black population).

Figure 1: California is home to the nation's fifth largest Black population

Black population by select states, 2013 (in millions)

Texas		3.01	
Georgia		3.01	
Florida		2.97	
New York		2.82	
CALIFORNIA		2.16	
North Carolina		2.06	
Illinois		1.82	
Maryland	1	.71	
Virginia	1.55	5	
Louisiana	1.47		
Ohio	1.38		
Michigan	1.37		
Pennsylvania	1.34		
South Carolina	1.30		
Alabama	1.27	Source: 2011-13	
New Jersey	1.13	American Community	
Mississippi	1.11	Survey 3-Year Estimates.	
Tennessee	1.08	DP05: Demographic and Housing Estimates.	
		Locomy Loundteo.	

Table 1: Los Angeles Countyis home to 37% of California'sBlack population

County	Black population	Percent of county that is Black	Proportion of California's Black population
Los Angeles	799,895	8.0	37.1
Alameda	180,420	11.6	8.4
San Bernardino	170,570	8.2	7.9
San Diego	150,850	4.8	7.0
Sacramento	139,460	9.6	6.5
Riverside	134,850	6.0	6.0

Source: 2011-13 American Community Survey (ACS), 3-year estimates from CA Department of Finance Demographic Research Unit.

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT

Black adults between 25- and 64-years old in California are less likely to have a college degree than Whites of this same age group. While more than 90 percent of Black adults have a high school diploma, only 23 percent have a bachelor's degree or higher, compared to 42 percent of White adults. **One-third of Black adults in the state have some college experience but no degree**—the highest rate of college attendance without a degree among major racial/ethnic groups. This finding suggests that many Black students want a degree and enroll in college but do not make it to graduation day, an opportunity ripe for addressing.

Figure 2: One-third of Black adults have some college, but no degree



Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-13 ACS 3-Year Estimates - Public Use Microdata Sample

Note: NH/PI is Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander. Figures may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

Many Black students want a degree and enroll in college but do not make it to graduation day, an opportunity ripe for addressing

SOME COLLEGE, NO DEGREE

Approximately 4.5 million adults in California have some college, but no degree.² According to research from the National Student Clearinghouse, California has the largest number of "potential college completers" (defined as students with two or more years' worth of progress in the past decade)³ than any other state—approximately 520,000.⁴ This is half a million adults who could have a degree—and earn the wage premium associated with that credential—if they were to re-enroll in college and complete their studies.

Among these potential completers: 94 percent maintained their enrollment within California, 63 percent exclusively attended two-year colleges, 54 percent are women, and 50 percent are between the ages of 24 and 29.⁵ Although data by race/ethnicity was not available in this study, data from the U.S. Census Bureau shows that one in three Black adults has some college education but no degree—the highest rate of the major racial/ethnic groups. Students who discontinue their studies face real challenges as a result:

- Higher unemployment rates. Unemployment rates for California adults with a bachelor's degree is 4.5 percent compared to 11.3 percent for those with some college but no degree.⁶
- *Lower wages.* National research shows that fulltime workers with a bachelor's degree earned a median of \$16,100 more per year compared with full-time workers with some college, no degree (\$56,500 and \$40,400, respectively).⁷ Over a lifetime, bachelor's degree holders will earn \$1.3 million more than adults without degrees.⁸
- Increased likelihood of student loan default. Students who have taken students loans but do not complete college are less likely to repay those students loans compared with college graduates,⁹ and they are four times as likely to default on their student loans.¹⁰

Re-enrolling students who have some college but no degree is one of the best ways to increase the state's educational attainment rate and improve the lives of the 4.5 million Californians who fit this category.¹¹ Research indicates that there are four main barriers to re-enrolling adults with some college:

- 1. Insufficient information. Adults with some college education may not realize how close they are to a degree or that they have already met requirements, and may be under the false impression that a college degree is too far out of reach.12 Another issue is that adults may not have sufficient information to begin the process of re-enrolling in college after they left their studies. For example, in one study of adults who were considering attaining their college degree, only one in five adults received information about college through a guidance counselor or an interactive website that compared colleges and most obtained information from their personal social network or through advertisements.¹³ Further, more than half of those with some college but no degree did not understand the difference between for-profit and nonprofit colleges,14 and more than half overestimated the cost of college.15
- 2. Inadequate college/university practices. Many colleges and universities do not have policies or practices in place to fully support adults who have attended college before and now want to complete their studies. Institutions may utilize the same assessment tools and pre-college level course sequences for these adults as they would for a student who is a recent high school graduate.¹⁶ This process is problematic because it disregards prior learning these adults may have as a result of their previous academic endeavors or work experience.17 Another challenge is that colleges and universities may not accept all previously-earned credits or offer flexible course schedules or online programs most adults need if they were to re-enroll in college.¹⁸ This is a real concern for students as one study found that nearly six in ten respondents expected to take pre-college level coursework should they reenroll, which was a significant deterrent to re-enrolling due to the cost and time such courses would require.19

- 3. Lack of financial resources. Research has shown that the number one reason students give for discontinuing their studies in the first place is the need to work and not being able to balance this reality with their academic pursuits.²⁰ This issue of cost and affordability continues to be a barrier for adults who want to return to college to earn their degree.²¹ Unfortunately, most scholarships and financial aid opportunities are only available to "traditional" students who enroll full-time or are first-time students.²² Additionally, students who have defaulted on previous debt are ineligible for additional Federal financial aid.²³
- 4. Limited time. Returning adults are generally older than first-time students and have significant obligations outside of school, such as work and family, and may not have time to balance all three priorities.²⁴ In one study of adults who were considering enrolling in college, two-thirds of adults worried about balancing work and family commitments with the demands of school.²⁵

California has a significant opportunity to identify students who may be close to completing with a degree, also known as Returning Adults, and to re-enroll and support them so they can achieve their dream of earning a college degree. In some cases, such as Georgia's Adult Learning Consortium and Texas' Grad TX program, these Adult Re-entry programs are coordinated by the state higher education body and in the case of Indiana's Ivy Tech Community College Adult Degree Completion Project and Graduate Minnesota, they are led by the state's college or university system.²⁶

Unfortunately, California currently does not have a statewide funding or policy strategy targeted towards Returning Adults,²⁷ and all efforts appear to be led individually by specific college and university campuses. For example, California community colleges with dedicated Adult Reentry programs with targeted counseling, workshops, and resources for Returning Adults include (but are not limited to): Cypress College in North Orange County, College of the Canyons in Santa Clarita, Orange Coast College in San Diego, Saddleback College in Mission Viejo, El Camino College in Torrance, and Cerritos College in Norwalk. The California State University system has a number of campuses with Adult Re-entry centers such as Fullerton, Long Beach, Monterey Bay, Sacramento, and San Bernardino (list not exhaustive). The University of California at Berkeley also has a dedicated programs for Returning Adults. Services for Returning Adults vary by initiative but include a range of support services including a website with helpful links, student success workshops/classes, mentorship programs, scholarships, a dedicated lounge for this student population, etc.



Black Californians are more educated today than they were 25 years ago (Figure 3). The proportion of Black adults without a high school diploma has declined by 13 percentage points from 24 percent in 1990 to 11 percent in 2013. The proportion of Black adults with a bachelor's degree or higher has increased eight percentage points to 23 percent in 2013 from 15 percent in 1990.

While Black Californians have made positive strides in educational outcomes since 1990, the data below highlights one troubling finding that suggests that young Black adults in California may not be experiencing the same levels of academic success as the generation that preceded them.²⁸ For example, in 2013, about 31 percent of 25- to 34-year olds had an associate degree or higher compared with 35 percent of 35- to 44-year olds and 34 percent of 44- to 54-year olds (Figure 4). While these differences are slight, they are cause for concern if the trend continues—or worsens—and threatens the notion of the American Dream that future generations should have greater opportunities to be more successful than their parents.

Figure 3: Black adults today are more likely to have a bachelor's degree compared with 20 years ago









1990

2000

Figure 4: Black 25- to 34-year olds are less likely to have a college degree than 35- to 44-year olds



Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-13 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample.

Note: Figures may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

COLLEGE ENROLLMENT

Not enough Black students enroll in four-year universities

There are approximately 150,000 Black students enrolled in college in California. However, they are not represented equally within each system of higher education. For example, about 6.3 percent of the traditional college-going-age population (18- to 24-years old) in California is Black.²⁹ As a result, we would hope to see a similar proportion of Black students enrolled within each system of higher education but we do not. In fact, relative to their proportion of the traditional college-going-age population, Black students are underrepresented within the California State University (CSU) system, the University of California (UC) system, and private nonprofit universities and overrepresented at California's community colleges and for-profit colleges.³⁰ The share of the undergraduate population that is Black is 10.7 percent at for-profit colleges, 7.3 percent at California's community colleges, 5.5 percent at private nonprofit universities, 4.6 percent at the CSU, and 2.4 percent at the UC (Figure 5).

Figure 5: Black undergrads are underrepresented at four-year public and nonprofit universities and overrepresented at community colleges and for-profit colleges

Percent of undergraduate student body that is Black, fall 2013



Source: Data for 18- to 24-year olds from U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-13 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample. Higher education data from U.S. Department of Education. Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS).

Note: Data from University of California Office of the President indicate that Black students made up 3.7 percent of all undergraduates in fall 2013. Source: University of California. (2015). *Accountability Report 2014*. Indicator 8.3.1 Racial/ethnic distribution of students, Universitywide and by campus, Fall 2013. Retrieved from http://accountability.universityofcalifornia.edu/index/8.3.1.

For-profits include Title IV eligible four-year, two-year, and less than two-year colleges. Private, nonprofits include Title IV eligible four-year universities.

Even though the number of Black undergraduates enrolled in a college or university in California is 33 percent higher today than it was a decade ago (from 127,000 in 2004 to 150,000 in 2013), this growth has been concentrated at for-profit and community colleges. According to data from the National Center for Education Statistics, the proportion of Black undergraduates in California has actually decreased in each sector in the last decade *except* at the for-profit colleges. Black students are less likely to enroll in a fouryear public or nonprofit university today than ten years ago.

First-time college freshmen enrollment

Not enough Black students enroll in college directly from high school. In 2012, 40 percent of Black high school graduates went directly from high school to one of California's three public higher education systems, compared with an average of 53 percent of all students.³¹ The college-going rate for Black high school graduates (particularly at four-year universities) over the past ten years peaked at 52 percent in 2007 and has since declined.³² This enrollment drop after 2007 was experienced by other groups as well and is likely the result of severe higher education state funding budget cuts that occurred after 2007. In fact, the college-going rate for all groups was lower in 2009 than it was at any time in the last 25 years.³³

Figure 6 shows where Black college freshmen in California enrolled in 2013. Presently, the majority of Black firsttime freshmen enroll in one of California's 112 community colleges (62 percent). About 11 percent enroll in the CSU, and fewer than four percent enroll at a UC campus. Private nonprofit universities enroll five percent of first-time Black students while private for-profit colleges and universities enroll 18 percent.³⁴

Figure 6: The majority of Black college freshmen enroll in community colleges



Distribution of Black first-time freshmen enrollment, by sector, fall 2013

Source: U.S. Department of Education. Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS).

Note: For-profits include Title IV eligible four-year, two-year, and less than two-year colleges. Private, nonprofits include Title IV eligible four-year universities.

Transfer student enrollment

The effectiveness of California's community colleges is critical to the educational success of California as 31 percent of UC and 52 percent of CSU graduates started at a California community college.³⁵ Transfer remains an important pathway for Black students since almost twothirds of Black college students begin their higher education at a California community college.

In 2013, approximately 4,800 Black students transferred to a four-year university in California, up 18 percent from 4,000 in 2007.³⁶ Figure 7 shows where Black transfer students enrolled in California in 2007 and 2013. In 2013, among Black undergraduates who transferred to a fouryear university, about 47 percent transferred to the CSU, 27 percent continued their studies at private nonprofit institutions, about 19 percent transferred to a four-year forprofit college, and seven percent enrolled in the UC. The transfer landscape has shifted substantially since 2007 when a larger proportion of Black students transferred to the public segments like CSU and UC rather than the private sector. The biggest shift in transfer pattern is seen at the CSU-in 2007, 62 percent of Black transfer students enrolled in the CSU, but in 2013 that proportion dropped by 15 percentage points to 47 percent. While the number of Black transfer students has remained relatively flat at CSU and UC between this timeframe, the data suggest that Black undergraduates are more likely to turn to the private sector, both nonprofit and for-profit, to continue their studies after community college. This decline in the proportion of students who enroll in California's public universities has been noted in previous research and is likely related to the severe decline in state funding the public segments experienced in the aftermath of the Great Recession, which officially started at the end of 2007.37

Figure 7: Black transfer students are more likely to enroll in private nonprofit and for-profit universities today than they were six years ago

Distribution of Black transfer students at four-year universities in California, by sector



Source: U.S. Department of Education. Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS).

Note: For-profits include four-year colleges located in California. Private, nonprofits include Title IV eligible four-year universities.

Previous research has found that **among Black community college students who transfer, about 42 percent transfer to out-of-state universities**—a higher proportion compared to Whites (32 percent), Asian Pacific Islanders (17 percent) and Latinos (15 percent).³⁸ In 2014, approximately 200 California community college students transferred out of state to Historically Black Colleges and Universities

(HBCUs).³⁹ This figure will likely increase in the future as a result of an agreement between the California community college system and nine HBCUs that was signed in March 2015. This agreement, called HBCU Transfer Project, will allow community college students who complete certain academic requirements guaranteed transfer to one of the nine participating HBCUs.⁴⁰

BARRIERS TO COLLEGE ACCESS

Not enough Black students are going to college and among those who do, the vast majority enroll in community colleges and for-profit colleges-open access institutions that do not turn away students at the undergraduate level. Part of the reason for this enrollment pattern is that many Black students face significant obstacles in accessing traditional four-year universities, many of which they have no control over. These barriers include: their family's level of income and education, and the quality of early, primary, and secondary education they receive, and access to A-G courses that are necessary to apply for CSU and UC admissions. These obstacles are difficult enough to overcome alone but when compounded with institutional pressures such as budget cuts, college enrollment reductions, and disproportionate impacts of certain admissions policies, the roadblocks can be extraordinarily difficult to surmount. Understanding the context around higher education in California and how it has affected Black students' access to college is critical to changing the narrative and creating a more promising future for all of California's students.

Challenged from the start

Levels of parental education and income have a significant effect on whether students successfully obtain a college degree. In one study, low-income, first-generation students were nearly four times more likely to leave their studies after the first year than students who came from educated and wealthier families. After six years, only 11 percent of lowincome, first-generation students had earned bachelor's degrees compared with 55 percent of their more advantaged peers.⁴¹ Further, low-income Black students are still much less likely to attend more selective universities than lowincome White students,⁴² and high-scoring Black students are still less likely to graduate than high-scoring White students.⁴³

More than one in five Black families in California is living in poverty (21 percent)—more than three times the rate of White families (6 percent).⁴⁴ One national study of Black college students found that 65 percent were financially independent compared to 49 percent of White undergraduates.⁴⁵ Nationally, about 45 percent of Black college students have parents whose highest level of education is a high school diploma or less compared with 28 percent of White students.⁴⁶

The cost of college and concern about paying for it can be major barriers for Black students. One study found that simply the perception of not being able to afford college negatively affected Black college enrollment.⁴⁷ However, **students who are knowledgeable about financial aid are more likely to go to college, enroll in a four-year university, and attend full-time**.⁴⁸ Unfortunately, research indicates that Black students and their families do not receive enough or accurate information about financial aid in a timely manner or are deterred by the application process altogether.⁴⁹

The reality is that many low-income and first-generation students start at a disadvantage in their pursuit of accessing and completing higher education; students who fit this profile generally lack the "college knowledge" or social capital and access to resources that are typically available to students from higher-income or better-educated families. Many must also work to finance their academic endeavors and to support themselves and oftentimes, their families.

Given the barriers the majority of Black students face and these statistics, it comes as no surprise that educational outcomes for Black students are not higher. However, the good news is that students who fit these characteristics do not have to be destined to continue the cycle of low educational outcomes and poverty. A substantial amount of research indicates that interventions that are designed to prepare students for college early in their academic trajectory and provide support along their college careers have a significant positive effect on student enrollment, persistence and graduation.⁵⁰ Guidance and support help students determine the universities they should apply to, show them how to navigate the application process and supply information about the various financial aid options that might be available to them. One study in particular found that high-achieving low-income students who received information about colleges and financial aid were actually more likely to enroll in selective universities than their more advantaged counterparts.⁵¹

Without this kind of support, the process can be too complex to navigate alone and many first-generation, low-income students fall through the cracks. This is why our state funding and policy priorities, along with the practices at colleges and universities are critical. We can create an environment in which the most American value of all—that everyone should have an equal opportunity to improve their lives—is actually realized for a greater number of Black residents in our state.

K-12 Academic preparation

Black students are significantly more likely to attend schools (from elementary through high school) with lower academic quality, as measured by Academic Performance Index (API) scores.⁵² In a study conducted by The Civil Rights Project by the University of California Los Angeles, almost half of Asian (49 percent) and 40 percent of White students attend the top 20 percent of schools in the state as determined by API ratings, compared with only 12 percent of Blacks and nine percent of Latinos.⁵³ Black students are also more likely to attend schools that do not offer high-level math and

science, Advanced Placement or honors-level courses,⁵⁴ that employ less qualified and less experienced teachers,⁵⁵ have fewer counselors,⁵⁶ and that have higher rates of expulsion, dropout, and poverty.⁵⁷ Consequently, Black students are more likely to receive a low standard of education and, as a result, are less likely to be college ready.

Given that the majority of Black California youth receive a lower-quality education from elementary through high school compared to White youth, it follows that California public high schools graduate Black students at lower rates than other racial/ethnic groups. Data from California's Department of Education show that in 2013-14, 68 percent of Black students graduated from high school within four years (Figure 8), an improvement of seven percentage points from 2009-10 (61 percent).

Figure 8: California public high schools graduate 68 percent of Black students within four years—19 percentage points lower than Whites

California four-year high school graduation rates, 2013-14



Source: California Department of Education, Cohort Outcome Data for the Class of 2013-14, Retrieved from Dataquest

Note: Data for Asian category includes Filipinos.

Even when Black students graduate from high school, only a small proportion are able to apply directly to a public fouryear university because so few have had the opportunity, guidance and support to enroll in and pass the A-G courses. The A-G course sequence is a set of courses California high school students must take to be eligible to apply to four-year public universities like the California State University and the University of California systems. As open access institutions, California community colleges do not require prospective students to complete the A-G sequence for admission. In 2013-14, only 31 percent of Black high school graduates completed the A-G sequence, meaning only 8,100 Black high school graduates could apply to California's public four-year universities (Figure 9). Ten years ago in 2004-05, that figure was 25 percent. Progress has been very slow.

Figure 9: Only three out of ten Black students complete A-G course sequence

California A-G completion rates, 2013-14



According to research presented in *Average Won't Do* from the Institute of Higher Education Leadership & Policy (IHELP)⁵⁸ at California State University Sacramento, California is among the lowest performing states in the country in terms of college preparation. Less than 25 percent of all 8th graders scored at or above the proficiency level on each of the four subjects of the National Assessment of Education Progress standardized test.⁵⁹ In 2014, only 25 percent of juniors who took the California State University Early Assessment Program (EAP) test were designated as "college ready" in English and 10 percent as "college ready" in math.⁶⁰ Proficiency rates are even lower for Black students who take the EAP, with 15 percent demonstrating readiness in college-level math.⁶¹

Decline in state funding

California's public colleges and universities experienced unprecedented budget cuts in the aftermath of the Great Recession. Between Fiscal Years 2006-07 and 2013-14, California's General Fund expenditures per student declined by 29 percent at CSU and 34 percent at UC.⁶² According to a 2013 report from the Public Policy Institute of California, between 2007-08 and 2011-12, state funding per fulltime equivalent student fell by 24 percent at California's Community Colleges.⁶³

In response to these higher education budget cuts, California's colleges and universities increased tuition/fees and reduced enrollment/capacity, the effects of which resulted in many students being both priced out of and unable to access California's public higher education system.

Increased tuition/fees

As a result of the decline in funding, tuition and fees increased substantially over the past decade. The average total tuition and fees paid by resident undergraduate students at UC, CSU, and CCC (for a full-time course load of 30 units per year) increased by approximately 150 percent between 2003-04 and 2014-15. Tuition/fees have increased from \$5,530 to \$13,200 at UC, and from \$2,572 to \$6,612 at CSU during this time period. The enrollment fee at California's community colleges increased from \$18 per unit in 2003-04 to \$46 per unit in 2014-15.⁶⁴

While the total amount spent on each full-time equivalent student today is relatively the same as that spent about ten years ago, the simultaneous decrease in state funds per student and increase in tuition and fees mean that students and their families now share a larger burden in funding their education than they used to. Data from the State Higher Education Executive Officers 2013 report shows that in 2003, students and their families contributed 11 percent of total higher education funding through tuition and fees. By 2012, the students' share of total funding had increased to 25 percent. In 2013, that amount was reduced slightly to 23 percent.⁶⁵

Research suggests that tuition increases can have a negative effect on college enrollment but that Black students are particularly sensitive to changes in tuition and access to financial aid,⁶⁶ and that students of color are *disproportionately* priced out by tuition increases, possibly as a result of "sticker shock" or insufficient access to financial aid.⁶⁷ A survey of more than 1,100 students in spring 2010 at one of CSU's largest campuses, Northridge, revealed students of color felt a disproportionate burden in their search for funding as a result of tuition/fee increases. For example, 53 percent of Blacks described significant efforts securing additional income compared to 32 percent of Whites; and 55 percent of Blacks reported needing to stretch financial aid compared to 33 percent of Whites.⁶⁸

Reduced enrollment/capacity

Because of the significant reduction in funds from the state, California's colleges and universities were also forced to cut costs by reducing their capacity in a number of different ways.

California Community Colleges

As an open-access institution, California's community colleges are unable to reduce enrollment targets. However, given this significant budget shortfall the community colleges responded by cutting the number of course section offerings by 21 percent between 2008-09 and 2011-12, reducing the number of full-time equivalent instructors, and increasing class sizes.⁶⁹ Because students couldn't access

the courses they needed, total enrollment at the community colleges declined by almost half a million in total (16 percent) and Black enrollment declined by 17 percent between 2008-09 and 2011-12.⁷⁰

California State University

In response to budget cuts, the CSU declared systemwide "impaction" in 2008, claiming insufficient funds to serve the growing number of students who were applying, and announced that fewer students would be admitted in fall 2009.⁷¹ California State University's policy of "impaction" negatively affected the number of students who were admitted and CSU leadership even expressed concerns about how "impaction" would affect students of color.⁷² According to analysis from the Assembly Budget Committee, CSU campuses have denied admission to 109,500 eligible California residents since 2009.⁷³

It is difficult to determine how "impaction" has directly affected enrollment beyond eligible students being denied for admission. Students may have decided not to apply after hearing of the policy. For example, between 2008 and 2009, application numbers declined by 15 percent for all groups combined (from 142,000 in 2008 to 121,100 in 2009) and by 38 percent for Blacks (from 10,800 in 2008 to 6,700 in 2009).⁷⁴ Moreover, students may have applied but were denied admission even though they were eligible, they may have been admitted but not to their campus of choice and thus, decided not to enroll altogether.⁷⁵

The proportion of Black high school graduates who enrolled directly to the CSU fell from a high of 13.5 percent in 2007, to decadelow of 8.6 percent in 2010 An examination of the proportion of high school graduates who enroll directly in the CSU reveals a potentially troubling finding around the same time as the budget cuts and declaration of "impaction." Enrollment rates to CSU directly from high school declined for all groups after 2007, but Blacks experienced the sharpest decline—the proportion of Black high school graduates who enrolled directly to the CSU fell from a high of 13.5 percent in 2007, to decade-low of 8.6 percent in 2010, and then increased slightly to 8.9 percent in 2012, the latest data available (Figure 10).

The number of Black freshmen enrolling in the CSU between 2004 and 2013 has remained relatively flat (only increased by four percent) while enrollment for all groups combined has increased by 50 percent.⁷⁶ Consequently, Black students composed 6.6 percent of CSU's freshman class in 2004, then increased to a decade-high of 7.4 percent in 2007, and has

now fallen to 4.6 percent in 2013.⁷⁷ Freshman enrollment for Black students has declined in the past decade at nine out of CSU's 23 campuses—Dominguez Hills, Fresno, Fullerton, Long Beach, Los Angeles, San Bernardino, San Jose, San Francisco, and Stanislaus—which happen to be among the largest campuses in the system and are located in areas with the largest numbers of Black residents.⁷⁸

In light of the federal changes in reporting student race and ethnicity, it is possible that the decline in Black enrollment at the CSU could be partially attributed to Blacks being able to self-identify as multi-racial or Hispanic. Additional research is needed to fully understand the effects of the reporting changes in race and ethnicity on Black enrollment figures at CSU.

Figure 10: Black enrollment from high school to CSU peaked in 2007 and then sharply declined





Source: California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. Statistical Reports: CSU New Student Enrollments, Fall 2013 Profile.

University of California

In the case of the University of California, while the UC has managed to maintain *overall* enrollment levels during the recession, in the past five years California-resident enrollment has remained flat, while the number of nonresidents has increased by 337 percent from almost 1,800 in 2009-10 to 7,700 in 2014-15.⁷⁹ As a public system of higher education, UC's tuition for non-California residents is significantly higher than it is for residents. Therefore, the more out-of-state and international students that enroll translates into additional revenue for the cash-strapped system.

At the time of publication, Governor Brown had just released his May Revise of the 2015-16 Budget. Following negotiations with UC President Napolitano, the budget proposal offered more funding to the UC in exchange for a freeze on tuition through 2016-17 and an improvement in accepting transfer students from community colleges, among other issues. The proposed budget did not provide for additional enrollment funding and debates on resident enrollment levels are pending.⁸⁰ While it is difficult to predict how potential budget scenarios might affect Black students in particular, if additional California residents are not served by the UC there would certainly be cause for concern given that Black students are already significantly underrepresented within the system.

Ban on affirmative action

Black students are significantly underrepresented at the University of California system relative to their population and this underrepresentation is most pronounced at UC Berkeley, UC Los Angeles (UCLA), and UC San Diego (UCSD), regions where most of the Black population is concentrated.

Proposition 209 was a California ballot proposition approved by voters in November 1996 that amended the state constitution to prohibit state government institutions from considering race, sex or ethnicity in the areas of public employment, contracting and education. An examination of two decades of data from the UC system from 1994 to 2014 revealed some troubling findings and patterns of decreasing opportunity and participation of Black students at the UC after Prop 209 was implemented:⁸¹

- Admission rates⁸² for Black applicants from 1994 to 2014 have declined by:
 - » 41 points at UC Berkeley, compared with 25 points for all applicants combined
 - » 46 points at UCLA, compared with 34 points for all applicants combined
 - » 44 points at UCSD, compared with 35 points for all applicants combined
- In 2014, at least two-thirds of Black applicants were denied admission to six of UC's nine undergraduate campuses: Berkeley, Los Angeles, San Diego, Davis, Irvine and Santa Barbara. For comparison, at least twothirds of White applicants were denied admission to only *three* campuses.⁸³

Black representation at the UC has not increased from where it was twenty years ago: in 1994 Blacks made up 4.4 percent of all freshmen at the UC compared to 4.0 percent in 2014.⁸⁴ At the campus level, prior to Prop 209, in 1994, Blacks made up 5.7 percent of all applicants to UC Berkeley but 6.9 percent of all admits—they were overrepresented in the admission pool relative to their application numbers (Figure 11). However, in 1998, the first freshman class that was admitted under Prop 209, we see a reversal—Blacks made up 4.8 percent of all applicants but only 3.2 percent of all those who were admitted—they are now *underrepresented* in the admission pool relative to their application numbers. In 2013, that gap widened further. This same phenomenon of the proportion of Blacks decreasing from the application to admission pipeline between 1994 and 1998 is also witnessed at UCLA.



Figure 11: After implementation of Prop 209, Blacks make up a larger proportion of applicants than admits at UC Berkeley and UCLA

Black representation at UC Berkeley



Source: University of California Office of the President.

- This history of underrepresentation at the University of California and the ban on affirmative action have contributed to a negative campus experience for many Black students at the UC. In general, Black students, more than any other group, reported feelings of isolation and discrimination at their respective UC campuses. The UC surveyed students in spring 2012, most recent data available, about campus climate and culture. The findings for Black students are especially troubling:
- Only 45 percent of Black students "agreed" or "strongly agreed" that "students of my race/ethnicity are respected at this campus" system wide.⁸⁵



Source: University of California Office of the President.

- Overall, 79 percent of the UC community feels comfortable with their campus climate compared with 65 percent of Black respondents (includes faculty, staff, undergraduate students, and graduate students)—the lowest rate except for American Indian students.⁸⁶
- Almost 40 percent of Black respondents (includes faculty, staff, undergraduate students, and graduate students) experienced exclusionary behavior within the last year compared with 24 percent of the overall UC community.⁸⁷



COLLEGE COMPLETION

California's colleges and universities graduate Black students at low rates

California Community Colleges

According to the California Community Colleges (CCC) Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard, fewer than half (47 percent) of all students complete a degree, certificate or transfer to a four-year university within six years. For Black students, that rate is 37 percent (Figure 12). Unfortunately, data within the traditional two-year or even the four-year timeframe is not available. Completion rates for all groups combined and for Black students have not improved over the past five years.

As reported in *Average Won't Do*, the number of credentials and degrees produced per 100 undergraduates enrolled in California's community colleges is among the lowest in the country. On average, about nine certificates and degrees were awarded per 100 enrolled undergraduates in 2012. For Black students, that figure is 8.2—the same level from ten years ago, indicating that no progress has been made.⁸⁸

National research indicates that more than 80 percent of community college students intend to earn at least a bachelor's degree.⁸⁹ However, data from the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office reports that only about 38 percent of all California community college students—and 34 percent of Black students—actually transferred to a four-year university within six years.⁹⁰ Given that California's community colleges are the first step for many students who want a four-year degree, and, according to the Master Plan, one of the community college system's most critical missions is to serve as a transfer pathway so students can earn bachelor's degrees—the promise of transfer is failing.⁹¹

Figure 12: California Community Colleges award a certificate, degree or transfer to 37 percent of Black students



California Community College six-year completion rates

California State University system

The California State University system (CSU) has gradually improved its graduation rates in the past decade. Both fourand six-year graduation rates for freshmen are higher for all groups today than they were a decade ago. While progress has been made, there is still much work to do. Four-year graduation rates are too low for all groups. CSU graduated fewer than two out of ten freshmen who enrolled in fall 2008 within the traditional four-year timeframe and only eight percent of Black freshmen from the same cohort (Figure 13).⁹² Six-year graduation rates are higher, but CSU will still graduate only about 37 percent of Black freshmen within that timeframe. In addition to CSU's low graduation rates for all groups, gaps across racial/ethnic groups persist. The four-year graduation rate gap between White and Black students increased by five percentage points to a 16-point gap for the cohort enrolling in fall 2008 from an 11-point gap for the freshman cohort enrolling in fall 1999. The six-year graduation rate gap between White and Black students decreased slightly from a 25-point gap among the freshman cohort enrolling in fall 1999 to a 24-point gap for the cohort enrolling in 2008.

Figure 13: CSU graduates 8 percent of Black freshmen within four years; 37 percent within six years



CSU freshmen four- and six-year gaduation rates

Source: Author's analysis of data from CSU Division of Analytic Studies. Consortium for Student Retention Data Exchange.

Note: The horizontal axis notes the entering year of a cohort. For students who entered in fall 1999, four-year outcomes are by 2002-03 and six-year outcomes are by 2004-05. For students who entered in fall 2008, four-year outcomes are by 2011-12 and six-year outcomes are by 2013-14. Figures may not sum to totals because of rounding.

CSU has also improved its graduation rates for transfer students over the past decade (Figure 14). CSU graduated 25 percent of California community college students who transferred to CSU in fall 2009 within two years and about 69 percent within four years. Black students in this same cohort still had lower outcomes than the average, with 17 and 57 percent, graduating within two- and four-years, respectively.⁹³ The two-year graduation gap between White and Black students increased from a 10-point gap for the transfer cohort enrolling in fall 2000 to a 12-point gap for the cohort enrolling in fall 2009. The four-year graduation gap between White and Black students increased slightly from 17 points to 18 points for the same cohorts.

Figure 14: CSU graduates 17 percent of Black transfer students within two years; 56 percent within four years

CSU two- and four-year transfer graduation rates



Source: Author's analysis of data from CSU Division of Analytic Studies. Consortium for Student Retention Data Exchange.

Note: The horizontal axis notes the entering year of a cohort. For students who entered in 2000-01, two-year outcomes are by 2001-02 and four-year outcomes are by 2003-04. For students who entered in 2009-10, two-year outcomes are by 2010-11 and four-year outcomes are by 2012-13. Figures may not sum to totals because of rounding.

University of California system

The University of California system (UC) has also improved its four- and six-year graduation rates for all freshmen over the past decade.⁹⁴ UC graduated 60 percent of the freshmen who enrolled in fall 2007 within four years and 83 percent within six years (Figure 15).⁹⁵ Unfortunately, UC graduated its Black freshmen at lower rates—45 and 74 percent within four and six years, respectively. While graduation rates for Black students have improved in the past ten years, the gap between Black and White students, has increased slightly from 20 points among the cohort enrolling in fall 1998 to 21 points among the cohort enrolling in fall 2007 and the six-year graduation gap has barely budged from 10 points to 11 points for the cohorts enrolling in fall 1998 and fall 2007, respectively.

Figure 15: UC graduates 45 percent of Black freshmen within four years; 73 percent within six years



UC freshmen four- and six-year gaduation rates

Source: Author's analysis of data from UC Office of the President.

Note: The horizontal axis notes the entering year of a cohort. For students who entered in 1998-99, four-year outcomes are by 2001-02 and six-year outcomes are by 2003-04. For students who entered in 2007-08, four-year outcomes are by 2010-11 and six-year outcomes are by 2012-13. Figures may not sum to totals because of rounding.

UC graduated slightly more than half (53 percent) of transfer students enrolling in fall 2009 within two years and the vast majority, 86 percent, within four years (Figure 16).⁹⁶ The UC graduates Black transfer students at rates lower than the average—39 percent within two years and 77 percent within four years. The good news is that the two-year graduation rate gap between White and Black transfer students has decreased slightly from a gap of 21 points among transfer students enrolling in fall 2000 to 18 points among the cohort enrolling in fall 2009 and the four-year gap has decreased from 18 points to 11 points for the same cohorts.

Figure 16: UC graduates 39 percent of Black transfer students within two years; 77 percent within four years



UC two- and four-year transfer graduation rates

Source: Author's analysis of data from UC Office of the President.

Note: the horizontal axis notes the entering year of a cohort. For students who entered in fall 2000, two-year outcomes are by 2001-02 and four-year outcomes are by 2003-04. For students who entered in fall 2009, two-year outcomes are by 2010-11 and four-year outcomes are by 2012-13.

BARRIERS TO COLLEGE COMPLETION

While some progress has been made in improving graduation rates for Black students, issues still remain. The first major hurdle to attaining a college degree is enrolling. The second is to persist through to graduation day. Unfortunately, the fact that Black adults are most likely to have some college education but no degree and have lower graduation rates than other groups is testimony to the fact that the dream of a college degree is not realized for many Black students even for those who have crossed the first hurdle and arrived on campus.

A number of interrelated issues contribute to students leaving college before crossing the graduation stage. In order to ensure that more Black students complete college with a degree, significant barriers to graduation must be addressed: (1) the current method of assessing college readiness and bringing students to college-level proficiency; (2) part-time college enrollment; (3) insufficient levels of financial aid; and (4) inadequate guidance to help students succeed.

Pre-college level coursework

When students apply to a community college in California they are required to take assessment tests in English and math, the results of which determine their level of proficiency or college readiness in that particular subject.⁹⁷ If students do not demonstrate college readiness on these assessment tests, they are required to take pre-college level courses (also known as basic skills, remedial, or developmental education). Depending on the campus, students can be placed from one to four levels below college-level and are required to take each course level sequentially before they can begin college-level coursework in that subject. For example, if a student is placed four levels below college-level they will have to take four courses, one per semester, before they can begin to earn college credit in those subjects, the equivalent of two years on a semester calendar. Federal data indicate that 68 percent of community college students nationwide take at least one pre-college level course.¹⁰⁴ Within California's community colleges, where nearly two-thirds of California's undergraduate students are enrolled, 75 percent of incoming students overall and 87 percent of incoming Black students are required to take pre-college level courses (Figure 17).¹⁰⁵ In one cohort of students who first enrolled in 2008-09, 157,400 California community college students overall—13,525 of them Black—were placed into pre-college level coursework.¹⁰⁶

Figure 17: Almost nine out of ten Black community college students are placed in to precollege level coursework



Source: California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard

Note: Cohort includes first-time students with minimum of 6 units earned who attempted any Math or English in the first three years.

ASSESSMENT TESTS

Currently, California community colleges are not required to prepare students for assessment tests, the tests generally vary by campus, and students are not allowed to retake tests within a one-year period.⁹⁸ Unfortunately, many students are not aware of the importance of these tests or the impact that they have on their ability to earn a certificate, degree, or transfer in a timely manner.⁹⁹ Worst of all, research from the Community College Research Center at Columbia University found that assessment tests inaccurately place students into pre-college level coursework.¹⁰⁰

In order to address the issues associated with these placement tests, the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office developed the Common Assessment Initiative (CAI).¹⁰¹ This initiative will develop a Common Assessment System (CAS) for all California community colleges, contain test preparation, test delivery, test administration, data collection, and course placement guidance. The goal is ultimately to increase the effectiveness and accuracy of test placement, lower remediation rates, increase awareness of importance of assessment tests and improved student participation, and reduce the cost of assessment-related activities. For more information, please visit the Common Assessment Initiative website at http://cccassess.org/.

Thus far, individual California community college campuses have been leading their own initiatives to redesign the assessment process. One innovative campus in particular, Long Beach City College, began experimenting with using multiple measures such as Grade Point Average (GPA) or high school transcripts to assess students' level of proficiency instead of placement tests alone. The results are impressive,¹⁰² and indicate that use of multiple measures is a better indicator of how well students will perform in collegelevel work.¹⁰³ As part of systemwide efforts to redesign the assessment process, Educational Results Partnerships' system Cal-PASS Plus and the RP Group, with support from the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, are leading an initiative called the Multiple Measures Assessment Project (MMAP). This initiative will create a data warehouse that collects, stores and analyzes multiple measures, including high school transcript and test data. Additionally, placement test data for each community college will be stored. For more information, please visit the MMAP website at http://rpgroup.org/projects/multiple-measuresassessment-project.



These numbers are concerning for many reasons. The most significant is that the probability of students completing their pre-college level course sequence to go on to college-level coursework is very low. For example, of Black students who attempted a pre-college level English and math course, only 28 and 17 percent, respectively, persisted through the entire pre-college level coursework sequence to complete a college-level course in the same subject within six years.¹⁰⁷ In other words, **among the approximately 19,600 Black students who attempted a pre-college level English course for the first time in 2008-09, 14,000 of them never made it to a college-level English course; and among the 20,600 students who took a pre-college level math course for the first time, nearly 17,000 of them never made it to college-level math.¹⁰⁸**

Even worse, students who begin their higher education studies in pre-college level work are less likely to ever make it to the graduation stage. The California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard shows that 64 percent of Black students who enrolled in college-level courses upon entry in college finished a degree, certificate or transferred within six years compared with only 33 percent who enrolled in pre-college level courses (Figure 18).109 As noted earlier, 87 percent of Black students at California's community colleges enroll in pre-college level coursework. Among them, approximately two-thirds will not earn an award or transfer within six years-for one cohort tracked through 2014 that was the equivalent of 9,075 Black students. If Black students who took pre-college level courses graduated at the same rate as those who did not, an additional 4,150 Black community college students (within one cohort alone) would have earned a degree or certificate or transferred to a four-year university in 2014.110

Figure 18: The majority of students who enroll in pre-college level coursework do not complete

California Community College six-year completion rates for 2008-09 cohort, by enrollment in pre-college level coursework



Source: California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard

Note: Cohort-eligible students includes firsttime students who earned a minimum of 6 units and attempted any Math or English course within the first three years. This challenge of assessing college readiness and bringing students up to college-level is not just an issue at the community colleges. CSU policy requires incoming freshmen demonstrate proficiency in English and math before they can enroll in credit-bearing college-level courses in those subjects. Proficiency is based on performance on standardized tests or on the CSU placement tests.¹¹¹ At the CSU, 43 percent of all incoming freshmen in fall 2013 were tested as not proficient in math, English, or both, compared with 65 percent of Black freshmen.¹¹² Students at CSU are also required to take pre-college level courses before they can begin college-level coursework in that subject-and they must pass the courses within one year or risk being disenrolled.¹¹³ While data by race/ethnicity is not provided, the CSU reports that 85 percent of all students who needed remediation in fall 2013 gained proficiency before their second year, 11 percent did not complete remediation and were disenrolled, three percent did not complete remediation but were still allowed to enroll, and one percent left campus without completing remediation.¹¹⁴

Credits earned in pre-college level coursework at both the community colleges and CSU are not counted toward a degree, extend the time students are enrolled in college and costs both students and the state money. National research estimates that remedial coursework costs \$7 billion annually.¹¹⁵ Given the significant cost, the low likelihood of completion and placement tests that do not consistently or accurately assess student proficiency, it is imperative that the entire system of assessment and delivery of pre-college level coursework be redesigned. The current method is not working and is quite costly to both the state and students.

Part-time enrollment

A significant barrier to graduation is the practice of enrolling in college less than full-time (fewer than 15 credits per semester or 30 credits per year). Complete College America found that graduation rates for students who attend college part-time are lower than for students who enroll full-time, even when given twice as long to graduate.¹¹⁶ At California's community colleges, only eight percent of Black students enroll in 15 credits or more per semester—slightly lower than the rate for all students combined (nine percent).¹¹⁷ At CSU, approximately 16 percent of Black students take at least 12 credits per semester (data on 15 or more credit enrollment is not available)—a rate that is consistent with all other groups.¹¹⁸ The combination of the increase in tuition/fees, insufficient financial aid, poor college guidance/advising, and higher rates of poverty all contribute to students enrolling in college less than full-time in order to work,¹¹⁹ and in general, Black students are more likely to be enrolled part-time than their White counterparts.¹²⁰ Essentially, students are forced to "choose" between either working to earn money to take care of themselves and their families or taking additional courses to move along in their degree programs. Students who work may spend less time on campus attending classes and studying. Research suggests that working excessive hours while enrolled in college can significantly extend the time it takes to earn a degree,¹²¹ and it is widely established that the longer students take to complete their degree programs, the less likely they are to ever graduate.¹²²

Insufficient financial aid

As a result of higher education budget cuts after 2007, colleges and universities increased tuition and fees in order to make up for lost state funding. Higher tuition and fees for students means that a larger number and proportion of students require financial aid to fund their college education. Financial aid comes in the form of grants and loans. Grants come in the form of need-based and merit-based aid and do not need to be repaid, whereas loans do. In order to access Federal and most state-funded grants and loans, students must complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA).

In the state of California, the California Student Aid Commission serves as the principal agency responsible for administering the many state financial aid programs, including the Cal Grant program. Students must complete the FAFSA in order to receive Cal Grants.¹²³ Cal Grants provide \$1.8 billion in need-based grants to students. Award amounts for students vary by the type of college attended, as well as the type of Cal Grant program for which students qualify. There are three types of Cal Grant awards: Cal Grant A is used for tuition and fees, Cal Grant B is used for indirect higher education costs such as books, housing, transportation; and Cal Grant C is for students who attend occupational or career colleges. Competitive Cal grants are awarded to students who miss the Cal Grant filing deadline or enroll in college more than one year after completing high school. These awards are not guaranteed and only a limited number are available each year.

The Institute for College Access and Success (TICAS) reports that among those who file a FAFSA, only 16 percent of very low-income Black students receive a Cal Grant award, compared to the California average of 23 percent. This low receipt rate is likely due to the fact that there is a significant shortage of the number of competitive Cal Grant awards relative to the number of eligible applicants who apply for them. For example, in 2014-15, there was only one competitive Cal Grant award available for every 17 eligible applicants.¹²⁶ Since almost two-thirds of Black students attend community colleges, where competition for Cal Grant awards is greatest, it is no surprise that not all Black students who need Cal Grants receive them. Further, 82 percent of Black students who do receive a Cal Grant get the Cal Grant B award, the value of which has not kept up with inflation and which is now one-seventh the size of the maximum Cal Grant A award.127

Unfortunately, many students, particularly Blacks, do not complete the FAFSA and file for a Cal Grant award, even though they are eligible. A national study found that while 62 percent of Black students receive some Pell support, only 14 percent of independent Black students receive the maximum Pell Grant award.¹²⁸ According to TICAS, 45 percent of California community colleges students completed the FAFSA in 2012-13 compared with 54 percent of community college students nationally.¹²⁹ These low application rates come at a cost to students: in 2009-10 about half a million California community college students eligible to receive federal or institutional grant aid left almost \$500 million on the table in Pell grants alone.¹³⁰

Insufficient guidance

Attaining a college degree can be complicated and many students require guidance navigating the process. Students may need assistance with determining a clear degree plan; understanding the number of required credits to complete each semester in order to graduate and to do so in a timely manner; and—in the case of most students—how to successfully transfer from a community college to a four-year university, and to do so without losing valuable credits.¹³¹

Quality advising is vital to these processes and to student success yet remains a rarity for most students. The median student-counselor ratio among the CSU campuses is 2,691 to 1—at California State University Los Angeles the ratio is 7,900 to 1—significantly above the recommended ratio of 1,500 to 1.¹³² The median student-counselor ratio at California's community colleges is 756 to 1,¹³³ significantly above the recommended ratio counseling can leave students feeling confused and without a clear understanding of degree requirements and without a clear pathway to degree.¹³⁵

RECOMMENDATIONS

Closing gaps in access and success across racial/ethnic groups is critical for California. As a majority-minority state, the success of all racial/ethnic groups is essential for a strong economy and vibrant civil society.

The Campaign for College Opportunity proposes the following recommendations for policymakers, college leaders, and students and families so that we can secure California's economic future by significantly improving our education system for all Californians and specifically increasing college enrollment and graduation among Black students. Our success in doing so not only strengthens the opportunity and future of Black Californians, but that of our state, and especially impacts key regions where many Blacks live.

1. Create a statewide plan for higher education.

A statewide plan would allow California to be intentional about closing persistent educational gaps among racial/ ethnic groups and improve rates of college readiness, preparation, and graduation for all groups, particularly Blacks.

- Establish an independent higher education coordinating body to focus on developing and gaining broad commitment to long-term equity goals for the state and to monitor progress toward benchmarks and completion goals in a public and transparent way.
 - Establish statewide goals for improving college readiness: proficiency tests, high school graduation rates, and A-G curriculum with targeted campaigns/ efforts specific to racial/ethnic groups. For example, efforts for Black students could revolve around improved outreach on A-G completion, increased college knowledge on the types of colleges/ universities available (i.e. the pros and cons of forprofit colleges), financial aid education, etc.

• Establish statewide and college-by-college benchmarks for increasing graduation rates and decreasing the number of students and amount of time spent in pre-college level courses with targeted campaigns/efforts specific to racial/ethnic groups.

2. Ensure colleges successfully move students through pre-college level courses, quickly and with improved retention rates.

Pre-college level work is one of the biggest determinants in whether students graduate from college. Given that the majority of Black students test in to pre-college level coursework, this is a critical issue in college completion.

- Use comprehensive and consistent assessment practices, including multiple measures to appropriately place incoming students in precollege level coursework. Research has shown that standard assessment tests may not be effective in gauging how well a student will perform or their level of readiness.¹³⁶ Instead, some colleges are beginning to use high school GPA or SAT or AP test scores as a more accurate indicator of college readiness.
- Redesign pre-college level course delivery to help more students successfully persist through to college-level work; including scaling promising accelerated, contextualized and compressed delivery methods. The more pre-college level courses students must take, the less likely they are to ever complete college-level English or math, much less graduate. Innovative delivery methods allow students to complete requirements faster than in traditional sequence and connect pre-college level courses to specific degree programs so they serve as "on ramps."

3. Provide clear transfer pathways to four-year degrees.

Only 35 percent of Black California community college students transfer to a four-year university within six years. Given that the majority of California's students begin at community college and that those who do transfer graduate with a bachelor's degree at high rates, improved transfer rates would substantially increase the number of baccalaureate degree-holders in the state.

- Implement all major/concentration pathways under the Associate Degree for Transfer program at each community college and California State University campus. Doing so will streamline the process of transferring from a California Community College to the California State University System by only requiring 60 credits and awarding an associate degree. It is estimated that this program will save approximately \$160 million and increase enrollment by 40,000 community college students and 14,000 California State University students annually.¹³⁷
- Expand Associate Degree for Transfer program to include access to the University of California system.
 In 2012-13, 20 percent of UC's 14,000 incoming transfer students came from only five community colleges and just over half came from 17 of the 112 community colleges in the state.¹³⁸ Additionally, incoming transfer students are generally less diverse than incoming freshmen, which is counterintuitive given the racial/ethnic composition of California's community colleges.¹³⁹ More students, from every region of California, should have a clearer pathway and equal opportunity to attend California's premier public research university.

.

4. Identify and re-enroll adults with some college but no certificate or degree.

California currently does not have a statewide funding or policy strategy targeted towards Returning Adults and Black adults are more likely than other racial/ ethnic groups to have some college but no degree. As a result, they are more likely to have higher levels of unemployment, lower wages, and higher rates of default on student loan debt.

- Colleges and universities should use their data collection system along with the National Student Clearinghouse StudentTracker service to identify former students who have some college credit but no credential or degree. Furthermore, colleges and universities should develop and implement outreach plans with information specific to student needs in order to encourage former students to re-enroll and complete their program of study.
- Colleges and universities should develop targeted programs that support this student population as they return to their studies. Interventions can include shortening degree programs appropriately, providing clear credit transfer agreements, and offering evening and weekend classes at the times (e.g. evenings and weekends) and in formats (e.g. in six-week courses) consistent with the needs and preferences of working adults.

5. Expand college knowledge in middle and high school and invest in support services students need to succeed.

Underrepresented, first-generation, and low-income students, the majority in California today, often face numerous challenges related to college enrollment and graduation. Research indicates that supporting these students before and through college vastly improves their success rates. California Community Colleges' Education Planning Initiative (EPI), which will develop a student services portal, is an excellent start to ensuring more students are guided in their education goals and progress.

- Scale proven and successful efforts to improve college knowledge among students and their families. Efforts should educate students and their parents, as early as middle school, about financial aid options, college eligibility criteria, the differences among colleges, and the college application process.
- Evaluate the implementation of the EPI program to ensure that all students are aware of and have access to this tool and are using it consistently for educational planning, degree tracking, and transfer.

6. Fund colleges for both enrollment growth and successful outcomes.

Some California residents who are eligible for admission to the CSU and UC are denied spots as a result of insufficient state funding.

- The state must provide additional funding for the CSU and UC to ensure all eligible Californians have a spot in college and so that students today do not face tougher admissions standards than previous generations.
- Monitor and evaluate Awards for Innovation in Higher Education program which seeks to promote student success (e.g., reducing time-to-degree, increased retention and graduation rates) to determine if their effectiveness in closing racial/ ethnic gaps in student success.

7. Strengthen financial support options for lowto moderate-income college students.

Significant budget cuts to higher education have resulted in increased costs for students and their families. Many Californians are unaware of their financial aid options and do not apply, despite being eligible, leaving money on the table.

• Increase the number of students who complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) by educating middle and high school students and their parents early and often about financial aid and the FAFSA. Ensure students maximize their federal and state financial aid and work-study offers by completing the FAFSA and filing for a Cal Grant.

- Serve more Cal Grant eligible students. In 2014-15, there was only one competitive Cal Grant available for every 17 eligible students.¹⁴⁰ California community college students are the least likely to receive a Cal Grant but they are the ones who often need it the most.¹⁴¹
- 8. Allow California's public universities to use race/ethnicity as one of many factors in weighing an applicants' qualifications for admission.

Black students are substantially underrepresented in higher education, especially at the University of California—the state has broken its promise to provide access to a quality higher education for all of its residents. Given California's racial/ethnic diversity, if the state plans to keep its economy strong by meeting the growing demand of businesses for educated workers, we must significantly increase the diversity among our universities.

 Ask voters to modify Proposition 209 to allow for the consideration of race/ethnicity as one of many factors for admission to California's public universities.

California's public universities should:

- Target recruitment and outreach to underrepresented students to help ensure undergraduate enrollment reflects the racial/ethnic composition of the state's young adult population.
- Adopt an institutional policy that states racial/ethnic diversity is an important component of providing a high-quality education with significant benefits to student-learning and development.¹⁴²



Want to be a part of the solution?

In the coming months, the Campaign for College Opportunity will release a *Transforming Higher Ed Toolbox* that offers specific policy and college campus strategies and tactics that higher education stakeholders (policymakers, college leaders, advocates, civil rights activists, business leaders, and students) can employ to actively work to make these recommendations a reality.

Continue to check our website or sign up for our newsletter at <u>www.collegecampaign.org</u> for more information.

CONCLUSION

Much of the Black population in California experiences pervasive systemic disadvantages that frequently impede educational, economic, and social progress. These include: low-quality schools found in predominantly low-income and Black communities,¹⁴³ a poverty rate that is three times that of Whites in California,¹⁴⁴ and an unemployment rate that is double that of Whites.¹⁴⁵

Education has the power to transform this narrative. Significant research has already established that bachelor's degree holders are more likely to be employed, less likely to rely on social services, less likely to be incarcerated, and more likely to have children who will also earn bachelor's degrees.¹⁴⁶ Education has the potential to lift people out of poverty and improve their lives—not just for themselves but also for future generations.

California was once a leader in higher education, intentionally designing and faithfully investing in the largest public higher education system in the world; and operating with the fundamental belief that an educated citizenry is not only critical to the economic success of the state but also to individual achievement of the American Dream. While this belief is still true today, California is falling behind as it fails to align critical budget and policy solutions with a more intentional agenda for our higher education system. California faces a potentially grim future as our once innovative and successful system of higher education is now only average. The state's disinvestment in education—the one area in which one dollar of investment returns \$4.50 for each graduate¹⁴⁷—will threaten our collective future if we fail to meet our workforce demands and provide the educational opportunities the next generation deserves.

Where once there was opportunity for any Californian, today an above-average social network, wealth, and know-how is required to navigate our system of higher education. And those on the margins of society—our most vulnerable—are the communities that are most likely to be left behind as California's education system falls to average. The ones who are left with reduced access and opportunity are the ones who need it most.

We hope the data and recommendations put forth in this report inform and inspire policy makers and college leaders to enact and implement the type of funding, policies, and practices required to improve outcomes for Black students. We have the power to address the challenges facing higher education and to live in a strong California that works for all of its residents. This type of change must begin now.



ABOUT THIS REPORT

The State of Higher Education in California is a series of reports that provide comprehensive data on the current state of college access and completion for our state and what it means for our economy. This report provides information on demographics, levels of educational attainment, and rates of college readiness, enrollment and graduation for Blacks in California. These in-depth reports analyze California's public colleges and universities and recommend actions that our policymakers and college leaders can take in order to improve college enrollment and graduation rates.

This report on Blacks is the second in the 2015 State of Higher Education in California series.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A special thanks to our principal funders for this project: the Evelyn & Walter Haas Jr. Fund, the Ford Foundation, the Kresge Foundation, the Lumina Foundation, and the Walter S. Johnson Foundation. Their commitment and dedication to increasing opportunity for all Americans in higher education is to be admired. We would also like to thank the additional funders who make our work possible including: California Education Policy Fund, College Futures Foundation, the David & Lucille Packard Foundation, the Sand Hill Foundation, and the Working Poor Families Project.

The Campaign for College Opportunity would like to thank the following experts for reviewing and providing valuable input as this report was being drafted: Darla Cooper (The RP Group), Carrie Hahnel (The Education Trust-West), Dennis Jones (The National Center for Higher Education Management Systems), Tae Kang (California Student Aid Commission), Kay McClenney, Catalina Mistler (California Student Aid Commission), Nancy Shulock, and Laura Szabo-Kubitz (The Institute for College Access & Success). Affiliation is provided for identification purposes only.

Nadia Valliani, Research and Policy Analyst with the Campaign for College Opportunity, was the principal researcher and author of this report, with contributions from Michele Siqueiros and Audrey Dow.

METHODOLOGY

Data for this report were collected from a variety of sources. Primarily, demographic and social characteristics were collected from the U.S. Census Bureau using data from the American Community Survey (ACS). The ACS, annually published by the U.S. Census Bureau, provides a detailed socioeconomic and demographic profile of the U.S. population. The ACS replaces the "long form" of the Decennial Census; the advantage of the ACS is annual collection, as opposed to collection once every ten years through the Decennial Census. Since 2000, the ACS is conducted nationwide with an annual sample of 3 million households. Data indicators are based on the 2011-13 ACS three-year estimates collected and analyzed through tools provided by the U.S. Census Bureau: Factfinder and DataFerrett using Public Use Microdata Sample (PUMS) data sets. Data for Hispanic/Latino includes those of any race. Data for White, Asian, Pacific Islander, and Black/African American excludes persons of Hispanic origin and multiple races. In some cases data for the Asian category is reported alone and in other cases, in combination with the Pacific Islander category. This reflects the difference in data provided by the original source.

Data was also collected through the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) database, available at the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) website, the California Department of Education, the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, the California State University Division of Analytic Studies, and the University of California Office of the President.

INFOGRAPHIC NOTES AND SOURCES

Page 1

High school graduation rate: California Department of Education, Cohort Outcome Data for the Class of 2013-14. Retrieved from Dataquest. **A-G Completion rate**: California Department of Education, 12th Grade Graduates Completing all Courses Required for U.C. and/or C.S.U. Entrance, All Students, State of California 2013-14. Retrieved from Dataquest. **Educational Attainment**: Data for adults between 25- and 64-years old from U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-13 ACS 3-Year Estimates - Public Use Microdata Sample. **Educational Attainment**: Data for 1990 is for adults 25-years and older from U.S. Census Bureau, 1990 Decennial Census of Population and Housing, Summary File 3, Public Use Microdata Sample. Data for 2013 is for adults 25-years and older from 2011-13 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample. **Black undergraduate representation graph**: Data for 18- to 24-year olds from U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2013 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample. **Black undergraduate representation graph**: Data for 18- to 24-year olds from U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2013 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample. **Black undergraduate representation graph**: Data for 18- to 24-year olds from U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2013 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample. **Black undergraduate representation graph**: Data for 18- to 24-year olds from U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2013 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample. Higher education data from U.S. Department of Education Lator Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS). Note: For-profits include Title IV eligible four-year, two-year, and less than two-year colleges; private, nonprofits include Title IV eligible four-year Estimates - Public Use Microdata Sample. **CSU Enrollment**: Data for percent of California high school graduates who directly enroll into CSU as first

ethnicity from California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. In light of the federal changes in reporting student race and ethnicity, it is possible that the decline in Black enrollment at the CSU could be partially attributed to Blacks being able to self-identify as multi-racial or Hispanic. **UC admission**: Data for 2014 first-time freshmen from University of California Office of the President. Final summary of freshman applications, admissions and enrollment, fall 1995-2014.

Page 2

CCC Remediation Rate: This figure (87%) is the percent of those who were placed into pre-college level coursework from the cohort of students who entered in 2008-09 and earned at least six credits and attempted a math or English course within first three years of enrollment. Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. Completion rates (64% and 33%) note the percent of students who completed an associate degree, certificate or transferred to a four-year university among the cohort of students who entered in 2008-09 and earned at least six credits and attempted a math or English course within first three years of enrollment for those who were placed into pre-college level coursework (33%) and those were not (64%). Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. **Freshmen Completion Rates**: CCC - This figure is the percent of students who entered in 2008-09 and earned at least six credits and attempted a math or English course university among the cohort of students student success Scorecard. **Freshmen Completion Rates**: CCC - This figure is the percent of students who entered in 2008-09 and earned at least six credits and attempted a math or English course within first three years of enrollment. Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. **CSU** – Data for first-time freshmen cohort entering in fall 2008 from California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. UC – Data for first-time freshmen cohort entering in fall 2007 from University of California Office of the President.

ENDNOTES

¹ California Governor's Budget Summary (2015-16). Retrieved from page 139 http://www.ebudget.ca.gov/ FullBudgetSummary.pdf.

² Data for population in California between 25- and 64-years old. Source: U.S. Census Bureau. 2011-13 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Public Use Microdata Sample.

³ Potential completers are defined as students with two or more years' worth of progress between August 11, 2003 and December 31, 2013.

⁴ Shapiro, Doug, Afet Dundar, Xin Yuan, Autumn Harrell, Justin Wild, and Mary Ziskin. (2014). Some College, No Degree: A National View of Students with Some College Enrollment, but No Completion (Signature Report No. 7). Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. Retrieved from http://nscresearchcenter.org/signaturereport7/#Sig7-Discussion-2.

⁵ Ibid.

⁶ Author's analysis of Current Population Survey, Annual Social and Economic Supplement, 2014.

⁷ Baum, Sandy, Jennifer Ma, and Kathleen Payea. (2013). *Education Pays 2013: The Benefits of Higher Education for Individuals and Society*. Washington, DC: College Board. Retrieved from http://trends.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/education-pays-2013-full-report.pdf.

⁸ Stiles, Jon, Michael Hout, and Henry Brady. (2012). *California's Economic Payoff: Investing in College Access and Completion*. The Campaign for College Opportunity. Retrieved from http://collegecampaign.org/portfolio/april-2012-californias-economic-payoff-investing-in-college-access-completion/.

⁹ Tierney, William. (2013). The Conundrum of Profit-Making Institutions in Higher education. In L. W. Perna (1st ed.), Preparing Today's Students for Tomorrow's Jobs in Metropolitan America (pp. 149-176). Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: University of Pennsylvania Press. ¹⁰ Nguyen, Mary. (2012). *Degreeless in Debt: What Happens to Borrowers Who Drop Out. Charts You Can Trust. Education Sector*. Retrieved from http://www.educationsector.org/sites/default/files/publications/DegreelessDebt_CYCT_RELEASE.pdf.

¹¹ Lane, Patrick. (2012). *Strategies for Success: Promising Ideas in Adult College Completion*. Policy Exchanges. Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education. Retrieved from http://www.wiche.edu/info/publications/accnPolEx-strategies-for-success.pdf.

¹² Lane, Patrick, Demarée K. Michelau, and Iris Palmer. (2012). *Going the Distance in Adult College Completion: Lessons from the" Non-Traditional No More" Project*. Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education. Retrieved from http://www.wiche.edu/info/publications/ntnmStateCaseStudies.pdf.

¹³ Hagelskamp, Carolin, David Schleifer, and Christopher DiStasi. (2013). *Is College Worth It for Me? How Adults without Degrees Think about Going (Back) to School.* Public Agenda. Retrieved from http://kresge.org/sites/default/files/Is-College-Worth-It-For-Me-Public-Agenda-2013.pdf.

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ Kelly, Andrey. (2015). *High Costs, Uncertain Benefits: What Do Americans Without a College Degree Think About Postsecondary Education?* Center on Higher Education Reform, American Enterprise Institute. Retrieved from https://www.aei.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/High-Costs-Uncertain-Benefits.pdf.

¹⁶ Lane, Patrick, Demarée K. Michelau, and Iris Palmer. (2012). *Going the Distance in Adult College Completion*.

¹⁷ The Council for Adult & Experiential Learning. (2010). *Fueling the Race to Postsecondary Success: A 48-Institution Study of Prior Learning Assessment and Adult Student Outcomes.* Retrieved from http://www.cael.org/pdfs/pla_fueling-the-race.

¹⁸ Lane, Patrick, Demarée K. Michelau, and Iris Palmer. (2012). *Going the Distance in Adult College Completion*.

¹⁹ Hagelskamp, Carolin, David Schleifer, and Christopher DiStasi. (2013). Is College Worth It for Me?

²⁰ Johnson, Jean, and Jon Rochkind. (2009). With Their Whole Lives Ahead of Them: Myths and Realities about Why So Many Students Fail to Finish College. Public Agenda. Retrieved from http://www.publicagenda.org/files/theirwholelivesaheadofthem.pdf.

²¹ Kelly, Andrey. (2015). *High Costs, Uncertain Benefits*.

²² Miller, Ben. (2014). Breaking with Tradition: Making Federal Grant Aid Work For Today's Students. New America Education. Retrieved from http://www.edcentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/BreakingWithTradition_7_8_2014_2.pdf.

²³ U.S. Department of Education. Office of Federal Student Aid. *Understanding Default*. Retrieved from https://studentaid.ed.gov/repay-loans/default.

²⁴ Lane, Patrick, Demarée K. Michelau, and Iris Palmer. (2012). *Going the Distance in Adult College Completion*.

²⁵ Hagelskamp, Carolin, David Schleifer, and Christopher DiStasi. (2013). Is College Worth It for Me?

²⁶ Erisman, Wendy and Patricia Steele. (2013). *Getting to the Finish Line: State and Metro Area Strategies to Increase College Completion by Returning Adults*. Higher Ed Insight. Retrieved from http://adultcollegecompletion.org/sites/files/ documents/HEI_brief_2013.pdf.

²⁷ Education Commission of the States. (2015). *Adults with Some College but No Credential*. Retrieved from http:// strategylabs.luminafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/ECS-Legislative-Summary-Re-Enrolling-Adults-Final-04072015.pdf.

²⁸ This similar phenomenon is also witnessed among the White population.

²⁹ In 2012-13, Blacks made up 6.4 percent of California high school graduates and 4.7 percent of A-G completers. In 2013-14, Backs made up 6.2 percent of California high school graduates and 4.6 percent of A-G completers. Source: California Department of Education, 12th Grade Graduates Completing all Courses Required for UC and/or CSU Entrance, All Students, State of California 2012-13 and 2013-14. Retrieved from Dataquest. ³⁰ For-profit colleges generally graduate their students at lower rates than public or private, nonprofit universities; and students who attend for-profit colleges are more likely to take out student loans and have higher amounts of debt. For more information please see The Campaign for College Opportunity. (2013). *The State of Blacks in Higher Education in California*. Retrieved from http://collegecampaign.org/portfolio/december-2013-the-state-of-blacks-in-higher-education-in-california/.

³¹ Moore, Colleen, Connie Tan, and Nancy Shulock. (2014). Average Won't Do.

³² The college-going rate was calculated by dividing the number of first-time freshmen younger than 19 years of age enrolled in UC, CSU, and CCC (fall 2012) by the total number of high school graduates (2011-12). Source:Moore, Colleen, Connie Tan, and Nancy Shulock. (2014). *Average Won't Do*.

³³ Ibid.

³⁴ For-profit colleges include all four-, two-, and less than two-year Title IV-designated institutions.

³⁵ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office. (2015). *Student Success Scorecard: 2014 State of the System Report*. Retrieved from http://californiacommunitycolleges.cccco.edu/Portals/0/FlipBooks/2014_StateOfSystem/2014_State_of_ the_System_FINAL.pdf.

³⁶ U.S. Department of Education. Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS).

³⁷ Johnson, Hans. (2012). *Defunding Higher Education.*; Moore, Colleen, Connie Tan, and Nancy Shulock. (2014). *Average Won't Do.*

³⁸ Moore, Colleen and Nancy Shulock. (2010). *Divided We Fail: Improving Completion and Closing Racial Gaps in California's Community Colleges*. Institute for Higher Education Leadership & Policy. Retrieved from http://collegecampaign.org/ portfolio/october-2010-divided-we-fail-improving-completion-and-closing-racial-gaps-in-californias-communitycolleges/.

³⁹ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office Transfer Volume to In-State Private (ISP) and Out-of-State (OOS) Baccalaureate Granting Institutions Report. Retrieved from Datamart. Data is for Statewide transfer numbers for 2013-14.

⁴⁰ The nine HBCUs are: Bennett College, Greensboro, North Carolina; Dillard University, New Orleans, Louisiana; Fisk University, Nashville, Tennessee; Lincoln University of Missouri, Jefferson City, Missouri; Philander Smith College, Little Rock, Arkansas; Stillman College, Tuscaloosa, Alabama; Talladega College, Talladega, Alabama; Tuskegee University, Tuskegee, Alabama; Wiley College, Marshall, Texas. Source: California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office. (March 2015). California Community College Transfer Guarantee to Historically Black Colleges & Universities. Retrieved from http:// extranet.cccco.edu/HBCUTransfer.aspx.

⁴¹ Engle, Jennifer and Vincent Tinto. (2008). *Moving Beyond Access: College Success for Low-Income, First-Generation Students. Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education*. Retrieved from http://www.pellinstitute.org/publications-Moving_Beyond_Access_2008.shtml.

⁴² Reardon, Sean F., Baker, Rachel, and Klasik, Daniel. (2012). *Race, income, and enrollment patterns in highly selective colleges 1982-2004*. Center for Education Policy Analysis, Stanford University. Retrieved from http://cepa.stanford.edu/content/race-income-and-enrollment-patterns-highly-selective-colleges-1982-2004.

⁴³ Carnevale, Anthony and Jeff Strohl. (2013). Separate and Unequal: How higher education reinforces the intergenerational reproduction of white racial privilege. Center on Education and the Workforce, Georgetown University.

⁴⁴ U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-13 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Table S0201: Selected Population Profile in the United States.

⁴⁵ Rawlston-Wilson, Valerie, Susie Saavedra and Shree Chauhan. (2014). From Access to Completion: A Seamless Path to College Graduation for African American Students.

⁴⁶ Santiago, Deborah. (2011). *Roadmap for ensuring America's future by increasing Latino college completion.* Excelencia in Education.

⁴⁷ Freeman, Kassie. (1997). Increasing African Americans' Participation in Higher Education: African American High school Students' Perspectives. Journal of Higher Education 68 (5): 523-550.

⁴⁸ Ekstrom, Ruth. (1992). Attitudes Toward Borrowing and Participation in Postsecondary Education. College Board.

⁴⁹ The Institute for College Access & Success. (2008). *Paving the way: How financial aid awareness affects college access and success*. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED540080.pdf.

⁵⁰ Engle, Jennifer and Vincent Tinto. (2008). *Moving Beyond Access*.

⁵¹ Hoxby, Caroline and Sarah Turner. (2013). *Expanding College Opportunities for High-Achieving Low-Income Students*. National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://econ.msu.edu/seminars/docs/hoxby_turner_ expanding_ opportunities_allparts_v3.pdf.

⁵² Academic Performance Index (API) scores are a measurement of academic performance and progress of individual public schools in California. API scores range from a low of 200 to a high of 1,000.

⁵³ Orfield, Gary and Jongyeon Ee. (2014). Segregating California's Future: Inequality and Its Alternative 60 Years After Brown V. Board of Education. The Civil Rights Project at the University of California Los Angeles. Retrieved from http:// civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/research/k-12-education/integration-and-diversity/segregating-california2019s-futureinequality-and-its-alternative-60-years-after-brown-v.-board-of-education.

⁵⁴ U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights. (March 2014). Civil Rights Data Collection, Data Snapshot: College and Career Readiness. Retrieved 4/13/2015 from http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-college-and-career-readiness-snapshot.pdf.

⁵⁵ U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights. (March 2014). Civil Rights Data Collection, Data Snapshot: Teacher Equity. Retrieved 4/13/2015 from http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-teacher-equity-snapshot.pdf.

⁵⁶ Bryant, Rhonda Tsoi-A-Fatt. (2015). *College Preparation for African American Students: Gaps in the High School Educational Experience*. CLASP. Retrieved 4/13/15 from http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/College-readiness2-2.pdf.

⁵⁷ Orfield, Gary and Jongyeon Ee. (2014). Segregating California's Future: Inequality and Its Alternative 60 Years After Brown V. Board of Education.

⁵⁸ IHELP was renamed the Education Insights Center (EdInsights) in March 2015.

⁵⁹ Moore, Colleen, Connie Tan, and Nancy Shulock. (2014). Average Won't Do.

⁶⁰ The Early Assessment Program (EAP) began in 2006 and is an exam high school students have the option to take as an addition to the California Standards Tests and counts as a high school equivalent of CSU's placement tests. Beginning in 2014, students will no longer need to "opt in" to take the EAP exams, as the questions will be incorporated into the new assessment tests related to Common Core State Standards. The EAP measures college English and math readiness among students in the 11th grade and then provides services in the 12th grade so that students can improve their skills. The ultimate goal is to reduce the need for pre-college level courses.

⁶¹ California State University, EAP 2014 Test Results. Retrieved from http://eap2014.ets.org/ViewReport.asp.

⁶² California Budget Project. (2014). From State to Student: How State Disinvestment Has Shifted Higher Education Costs to Students and Families. Retrieved from http://calbudgetcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/140506_From_State_to_Student_BB.pdf.

⁶³ Bohn, Sarah, Belinda Reyes, and Hans Johnson. (2013). *The Impact of Budget Cuts on California's Community Colleges*. Public Policy Institute of California. Retrieved from http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/report/R_313SBR.pdf.

⁶⁴ Moore, Colleen, Connie Tan, and Nancy Shulock. (2014). Average Won't Do.

⁶⁵ Constant 2013 dollars adjusted by SHEEO Higher Education Cost Adjustment (HECA). Educational Appropriations include American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) funds. Source: State Higher Education Executive Officers Association. (2014). *State Higher Education Finance FY 2013*. Retrieved from http://www.sheeo.org/resources/publications/shef-%E2%80%94-state-higher-education-finance-fy13. ⁶⁶ Heller, Donald. (1997). Student Price Response in Higher Education: An Update to Leslie and Brinkman. The Journal of Higher Education, Vol. 68, No. 6 (Nov. – Dec. , 1997), 624-659.

⁶⁷ Johnson, Hans. (2012). *Defunding Higher Education.*; Washington Community Action Network. (2011). *Facing Race: How Budget Cuts are Increasing Racial Disparities*. Retrieved from http://washingtoncan.org/wordpress/wp-content/ uploads/2011/11/RacialReportCard-FINAL-VERSION.pdf.; Ahmad, Farah. (2014). *Effects of State Higher Education Cuts on Communities of Color: Investment in Two-Year Schools is and Investment in the Future*. Center for American Progress. Retrieved from https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/PublicCollege-brief3.pdf.; Shulock, Nancy and Colleen Moore. (2003). *Capacity Constraints in California's Public Universities: A Factor Impeding Transfer*? Institute for Higher Education Leadership & Policy—California State University Sacramento, Retrieved from http://www.csus.edu/ edinsights/PDFs/R_Capacity_Constraints_09-03.PDF.

⁶⁸ Orfield, G. (Ed.). (2011). *The CSU Crisis and California's Future.*; Boyns, David, Amy Denissen, and Alexandra Gerbasi. (2011). *Economic Crisis and the California State Public University*: The Institutional, Professional and Personal Effects on Faculty and Students. Los Angeles, CA: The Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles at UCLA.

⁶⁹ Bohn, Sarah, Belinda Reyes, and Hans Johnson. (2013). *The Impact of Budget Cuts on California's Community Colleges*.

70 Ibid.

⁷¹ California State University Office of the Chancellor. (Nov. 20, 2008). *California State University Declares Systemwide Impaction*. Retrieved on 4/14/15 from http://www.calstate.edu/pa/news/2008/systemwide_impaction.shtml.

⁷² California State University Office of the Chancellor. (Media Teleconference 11/17/08). *CSU Leaders Discuss Budget and System-wide Impaction*. Retrieved from http://www.calstate.edu/executive/multimedia/2008/campusimpaction08_ transcript.shtml.

⁷³ CSU denied admission to 10,435 eligible students in 2009; 28,800 eligible students in 2010; 21,700 eligible students in 2011; 22,120 eligible students in 2012; and 26,430 eligible students in 2013. Source: California State Assembly Budget Committee. (February 12, 2015). *Preliminary Review of the Governor's Proposed 2015-16 State Budget Act*. Retrieved from http://abgt.assembly.ca.gov/sites/abgt.assembly.ca.gov/files/Preliminary%20Review%20final.pdf.

⁷⁴ California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. Statistical Reports: CSU New Students Applications and Admissions, College Year 2000-2001 through 2013-2014. Data for 2011-12, 2012-13, 2013-14 include data for "Total Applicants." Retrieved from http://www.calstate.edu/as/stat_reports/2013-2014/CY1314apps-TOC.shtml.

⁷⁵ National Student Clearinghouse. *Cal State Long Beach Studies the "Impact" of Impaction*. Retrieved from http://studentclearinghouse.org/colleges/files/ST-CalStateLongBeachCaseStudy.pdf.

⁷⁶ U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from IPEDS.

⁷⁷ In light of the changes in reporting race and ethnicity, it is possible that the drop in CSU Black enrollment could be partially attributed to Blacks being able to self-identify as multi-racial and or being categorized as Hispanic. More research is needed to fully understand the effects of the reporting changes in race and ethnicity on Black enrollment figures. Data from California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. CSU Systemwide First-Time Freshmen From California High Schools by Ethnic Group, from Fall 2004: Table 9. Retrieved from http://www.calstate.edu/as/stat_reports/2013-2014/ feth09.htm.

⁷⁸ U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from IPEDS.

⁷⁹ University of California Infocenter, Freshman admissions summary. Retrieved from http://universityofcalifornia.edu/ infocenter/freshman-admissions-summary.

⁸⁰ Taylor, Mac. (2015). *The 2015-16 Budget: Analysis of Higher Education May Revision Proposals*. Legislative Analyst's Office. Retrieved from http://www.lao.ca.gov/Publications/Detail/3258.

⁸¹ Data in this section is from University of California Office of the President. *Final summary of freshman applications, admissions, and enrollment from fall 1989-2013.* Retrieved from http://www.ucop.edu/news/factsheets/2013/flow-frosh-ca-13.pdf.

⁸² An admission rate is the percent of applicants who were admitted to a college or university.

⁸³ 2014 Admission rates for White and Black applicants, respectively, at each campus are: 17%, 9% at UC Berkeley; 42%, 23% at UC Davis; 38%, 22% at UC Irvine; 18%, 13% at UCLA; 84%, 55% at UC Merced; 69%, 39% at UC Riverside; 31%, 15% at UC San Diego; 41%, 26% at UC Santa Barbara; and 62%, 38% at UC Santa Cruz. Source: University of California Office of the President. *Final summary of freshman applications, admissions and enrollment, fall 1995-2014*. Retrieved from http://www.ucop.edu/institutional-research-academic-planning/_files/factsheets/2014/flow-frosh-ca-14.pdf.

⁸⁴ Data for 1994: University of California Office of the President. Final summary of freshman applications, admissions and enrollment, fall 1994-2013. Retrieved from http://www.ucop.edu/institutional-research-academic-planning/_files/ factsheets/2013/flow-frosh-ca-13.pdf.; Data for 2014: University of California Office of the President. Final summary of freshman applications, admissions and enrollment, fall 1995-2014. Retrieved from http://www.ucop.edu/institutionalresearch-academic-planning/_files/factsheets/2014/flow-frosh-ca-14.pdf.

⁸⁵ UC Accountability Report 2014. Retrieved from http://accountability.universityofcalifornia.edu/index. php?in=8.4.1&source=uw.

⁸⁶ UC Accountability Report 2014. Retrieved from http://accountability.universityofcalifornia.edu/index.php?in=8.5.1&source=uw.

⁸⁷ UC Accountability Report 2014. Retrieved from http://accountability.universityofcalifornia.edu/index/8.5.2.

⁸⁸ Moore, Colleen, Connie Tan, and Nancy Shulock. (2014). Average Won't Do.

⁸⁹ Community College Research Center. (2015). *What We Know About Transfer*. Teachers College, Columbia University. Retrieved from http://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/what-we-know-about-transfer.pdf.

⁹⁰ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office Transfer Velocity Cohort Report. Retrieved from Datamart, This measure is derived from a cohort of first-time students who entered CCC in 2008-09 and completed twelve credit units and attempted transfer-level math or English within six years.

⁹¹ Geiser, Saul, and Richard C. Atkinson. (2010). *Beyond the Master Plan: The Case for Restructuring Baccalaureate Education in California*. Center for Studies in Higher Education, University of California at Berkeley. Retrieved from http://www.cshe.berkeley.edu/beyond-master-plan-case-restructuring-baccalaureate-education-california.

⁹² Among freshmen enrolling in 2010-11, the most recent data available, 19 percent of all students and 9 percent of Black students graduated within four years. Source: California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. California State University Graduation Rates, Consortium for Student Retention Data Exchange (CSRDE). Data for Degree-Seeking FTF Graduation and Continuation Rates. Retrieved from http://asd.calstate.edu/csrde/index.shtml#ftf.

⁹³ Among transfer students enrolling in 2011-12, the most recent data available, 27 percent of all students and 21 percent of Black students graduated within two years. Source: California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. California State University Graduation Rates, Consortium for Student Retention Data Exchange (CSRDE). Data for California Community College Transfers (CCCT). Retrieved from http://asd.calstate.edu/csrde/index.shtml#ccct.

⁹⁴ That these are system averages and graduation rates at individual campuses vary. Unfortunately, graduation rate data by campus and race/ethnicity is not publicly available at the University of California Office of the President website.

⁹⁵ Among freshmen enrolling in 2009-10, the most recent data available, 63 percent of all students and 47 percent of Black students graduated within four years. Source: University of California Office of the President.

⁹⁶ Among transfer students enrolling in 2011-12, the most recent data available, 55 percent of all students and 47 percent of Black students graduated within two years. Source: University of California Office of the President.

⁹⁷ The exception to this rule is if students pass AP Exams with a score of "3" or above, if students have already taken a placement test at a different California Community College, or if students have already passed a college-level course in that subject.

⁹⁸ The National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education. (June 2007). *Investigating the Alignment of High School and Community College Assessments in California*. Retrieved from http://www.highereducation.org/reports/brown_niemi/BROWN_NIEMI.pdf.

⁹⁹ Venezia, Andrea, Kathy Reeves Bracco, and Thad Nodine. (2010). *One-shot deal? Students' perceptions of assessment and course placement in California's community colleges*. WestEd. Retrieved from http://www.wested.org/online_pubs/oneshotdeal.pdf.

¹⁰⁰ Belfield, Clive and Peter M. Crosta. (2012). *Predicting success in college: The importance of placement tests and high school transcripts* (NBER Working Paper No. 42). Community College Research Center at Teachers College, Columbia University.

¹⁰¹ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, Student Services and Special Programs Division. (2014). *California Community Colleges: Student Success and Support Program Handbook*. Retrieved from http://extranet.cccco.edu/ Portals/1/SSSP/Matriculation/SSSP%20Handbook%202014/2014%20Handbook.pdf.

¹⁰² Long Beach City College, Office of Institutional Effectiveness. *Preliminary overview of the effects of the Promise Pathways on key educational milestones achieved in first year of program*. Retrieved from http://www.lbcc.edu/ PromisePathways/documents/Promise%20Pathways%20First%20Year%20Findings%20Achievement%20of%20 Educational%20Milestones%20-%20FINAL%206-26-2013.pdf.

¹⁰³ Scott-Clayton, Judith, Peter M. Crosta, and Clive R. Belfield. (2012). *Improving the targeting of treatment: Evidence from college remediation* (NBER Working Paper No. 18457). Community College Research Center at Teachers College, Columbia University.; Multiple Measures Assessment Project Research Team. (2014). Multiple Measures for Assessment and Placement White Paper. Educational Results Partnership in collaboration with the RP Group. Retrieved from http://www.rpgroup.org/system/files/MMAP_WhitePaper_Final_September2014.pdf.

¹⁰⁴ Community College Research Center. (2014). *What We Know About Developmental Education Outcomes*. Teachers College, Columbia University. Retrieved from http://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/what-we-know-about-developmental-education-outcomes.pdf.

¹⁰⁵ This figure is the percent of those who were placed into pre-college level coursework from the cohort of students who entered in 2008-09 and earned at least six credits and attempted a math or English course within first three years of enrollment. Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. Retrieved from http://scorecard.cccco.edu/scorecard.aspx.

¹⁰⁶ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. Retrieved from http:// scorecard.cccco.edu/scorecard.aspx.

¹⁰⁷ This figure is for the cohort of students who attempted a pre-college level course for the first time in 2008-09. Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. Retrieved from http://scorecard.cccco.edu/scorecard.aspx.

¹⁰⁸ There is most likely double-counting here as many students probably attempted *both* pre-college level English and math. The data makes it difficult to differentiate.

¹⁰⁹ Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. Retrieved from http://scorecard.cccco.edu/scorecard.aspx.

¹¹⁰ Author's calculations are based on the 13,525 Black first-time freshmen who entered California's community colleges in 2008-09 who enrolled in pre-college level coursework, multiplied by the 63.6 percent success rate of Black students who did not enroll in pre-college level coursework (result = 8,602). The number of pre-college level students who did complete (4,450) was then subtracted from the first figure (8,602) in order to find the *additional* number of students who could have completed (result was 4,152). Data from California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 2015 Statewide Student Success Scorecard. Retrieved from http://scorecard.cccco.edu/scorecard.aspx.

¹¹¹ California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. Proficiency Reports of Students Entering the CSU System. Retrieved from http://www.asd.calstate.edu/performance/proficiency.shtml.

¹¹² California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. Fall 2013 Final Regularly Admitted First-time Freshmen Proficiency Systemwide. Retrieved from http://asd.calstate.edu/performance/combo/2013/Combo_Prof_Sys_Final_ Fall2013.htm. ¹¹³ King, Kimberly, Suzanne McEvoy, and Steve Teixeira. (2011). *The CSU Crisis and California's Future: Part 4: Dismantling College Opportunity in California – Remediation as a Civil Rights Issue in the California State University System*. Page 26. The Civil Rights Project at the University of California Los Angeles. Retrieved from http://civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/research/college-access/financing/dismantling-college-opportunity-in-california/.

¹¹⁴ California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. Fall 2013 Freshman Proficiency At Entry (Fall 2013) and One Year Later (Fall 2014) Systemwide. Retrieved from http://asd.calstate.edu/remrates/13-14/systemwide.htm.

¹¹⁵ Scott-Clayton, Judith, Peter M. Crosta, and Clive R. Belfield. (2012). *Improving the Targeting of Treatment: Evidence from college remediation* (NBER Working Paper No. 18457). National Bureau of Economic Research.

¹¹⁶ Complete College America. (2011). *Time is the Enemy of Graduation*. Retrieved from http://www.completecollege.org/ docs/Time_Is_the_Enemy.pdf.

¹¹⁷ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, Student Enrollment Status Summary Report for fall 2013, spring 2014, and fall 2014. Retrieved by Datamart.

¹¹⁸ California State University, Division of Analytic Studies. CSU Full-time Students by Ethnic Group, Residents Only, Table 12 for fall 2011, fall 2012, and fall 2013.

¹¹⁹ UCLA Civil Rights Project. (2011). *The CSU Crisis and California's Future: Part I – Squeezed from All Sides*. Retrieved from http://civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/research/college-access/financing/squeezed-from-all-sides-the-csu-crisis-and-californias-future/crpsqueezed-all-sides-2011.pdf.

¹²⁰ U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Higher Education General Information Survey (HEGIS), "Fall Enrollment in Colleges and Universities" surveys, 1976 and 1980; Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS), "Fall Enrollment Survey" (IPEDS-EF:90); and IPEDS Spring 2001 through Spring 2013, Enrollment component. (This table was prepared November 2013.)

¹²¹ Bound, John, Michael Lovenheim and Sarah Turner. (2012). *Increasing time to baccalaureate degree in the United States. Education*, 7(4), 375-424. Retrieved from http://www.psc.isr.umich.edu/pubs/pdf/rr10-698.pdf.

¹²² The Campaign for College Opportunity. (2014). *The Real Cost of College in California*. Retrieved from http:// realcostofcollegeinca.org/.; Complete College America. (2011). *Time is the Enemy of Graduation*. Retrieved from http:// www.completecollege.org/docs/Time_Is_the_Enemy.pdf.

¹²³ Students who complete the California Dream Act Application do not also complete the FAFSA.

¹²⁴ TICAS defines "very low-income" as students with \$0 expected family contribution. Source: The Institute for College Access & Success. (2014). Strengthening Cal Grants to Better Serve Today's African-American Students. Retrieved from http://www.ticas.org/pub_view.php?idx=938.

¹²⁵ TICAS defines "very low-income" as students with \$0 expected family contribution. Source: The Institute for College Access & Success. (2014). Strengthening Cal Grants to Better Serve Today's Students. Retrieved from http://ticas.org/sites/ default/files/legacy/files/pub/Cal_Grant_Issue_Brief.pdf.

¹²⁶ The Institute for College Access & Success. (2014). Strengthening Cal Grants to Better Serve Today's African-American Students.

¹²⁷ The original Cal Grant B access award was \$900 in 1969-70, equal to \$5,900 in 2012-13 dollars. Instead, the 2013-14 access award of \$1,648 is just over one-quarter of that amount. Source: The Institute for College Access & Success. (2014). *Strengthening Cal Grants to Better Serve Today's African-American Students*. Retrieved from http://www.ticas.org/ pub_view.php?idx=937.

¹²⁸ Rawlston-Wilson, Valerie, Susie Saavedra and Shree Chauhan. (2014). *From Access to Completion: A Seamless Path to College Graduation for African American Students*. National Urban League. Retrieved from http://nulwb.iamempowered. com/newsroom/policy-news/national-urban-league-report-finds-most-black-college-students-are-non.

¹²⁹ The Institute for College Access & Success, College InSight, http://www.college-insight.org.

¹³⁰ The Institute for College Access & Success. (2010). *Financial Aid Facts at California's Community Colleges*. Retrieved from http://www.ticas.org/files/pub/ccc_fact_sheet.pdf.

¹³¹ Solórzano, Daniel; Amanda Datnow, Vicki Park, and Tara Watford. (2013). *Pathways to Postsecondary Success: Maximizing Opportunities for Youth in Poverty*. Los Angeles, CA: UC/ACCORD and PATHWAYS to Postsecondary Success. Retrieved from http://pathways.gseis.ucla.edu/publications/PathwaysReport.pdf.

¹³² California Faculty Association. (2013). *Counselor/Student Ratios, Spring 2013*. Retrieved from http://www.calfac.org/post/counselorstudent-ratios-spring-2013.

¹³³ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, email correspondence, May 7, 2014.

¹³⁴ The Academic Senate for California Community Colleges. (2003). *Consultation Council Task Force on Counseling*. Retrieved from http://www.asccc.org/sites/default/files/publications/ConsultationCouncil_0.pdf.

¹³⁵ UCLA Civil Rights Project. (2011). *The CSU Crisis and California's Future: Part I – Squeezed from All Sides*. Retrieved from http://civilrightsproject.ucla.edu/research/college-access/financing/squeezed-from-all-sides-the-csu-crisis-and-californias-future/crpsqueezed-all-sides-2011.pdf.

¹³⁶ Belfield, Clive and Peter M. Crosta. (2012). Predicting success in college: The importance of placement tests and high school transcripts.

¹³⁷ California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, Office of Communications. *Key Facts about California Community Colleges*. Retrieved from http://californiacommunitycolleges.cccco.edu/PolicyInAction/KeyFacts.aspx.

¹³⁸ University of California Office of the President. (2014). Transfer Action Team Report, Table 3: Enrollments from California Community Colleges. Retrieved from http://ucop.edu/transfer-action-team/appendix-3/3-uc-transfer-enrollment-by-ccc. pdf.

¹³⁹ In fall 2014, Asian students made up 39% of freshmen, 31% of transfer; Black students made up 4.1% of freshmen, 4.4% of transfer; Latino students made up 30% of freshmen, 25% of transfer; and White students made up 23% of freshmen, 35% of transfer. Source: University of California Office of the Presidents. *Student/Workforce Data*. Retrieved from http://www.ucop.edu/news/factsheets/2014/fall2014sir.html.

¹⁴⁰ The Institute for College Access & Success. (2014). Strengthening Cal Grants to Better Serve Today's African-American Students. Retrieved from http://www.ticas.org/files/pub/African_American_Cal_Grant_Factsheet.pdf.

¹⁴¹ The Institute for College Access & Success. (2013). Strengthening Cal Grants to Better Serve Today's Students: Analysis and Recommendations. Retrieved from http://www.ticas.org/files/pub/Cal_Grant_Issue_Brief.pdf.

¹⁴² Hurtado, Sylvia. (2007). *Linking Diversity with the Educational and Civic Missions of Higher Education*. The Review of Higher Education, 30(2), 185-196.

¹⁴³ Rothstein, Richard. *The Racial Achievement Gap, Segregated Schools, and Segregated Neighborhoods: A Constitutional Insult*. Race and Social Problems, 1-10. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs12552-014-9134-1.

¹⁴⁴ U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2013 American Community Survey 3-Year Estimates, Table S0201: Selected Population Profile in the United States.

¹⁴⁵ Unemployment rate for Whites is 4.7 percent compared to 9.6 percent for Blacks. Source: U.S. Department of Labor. Bureau of Labor Statistics. *Economic New Release: Table A-2 Employment status of the civilian population by race, sex, and age*, May 08, 2015. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/news.release/empsit.t02.htm.

¹⁴⁶ Stiles, Jon, Michael Hout, and Henry Brady. (2012). *California's Economic Payoff: Investing in College Access and Completion*. Campaign for College Opportunity. Retrieved from http://collegecampaign.org/portfolio/april-2012-californias-economic-payoff-investing-in-college-access-completion/.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

ABOUT THE CAMPAIGN

The Campaign for College Opportunity is a broad-based, bipartisan coalition, including business, education and civil rights leaders that is dedicated to ensuring that all Californians have an equal opportunity to attend and succeed in college in order to build a vibrant workforce, economy and democracy. The Campaign works to create an environment of change and lead the state toward effective policy solutions. It is focused upon substantially increasing the number of students attending two-and four-year colleges in California so that we can produce the 2.3 million additional college graduates that our state needs.

For more information, visit: www.collegecampaign.org.

Los Angeles Office

714 W. Olympic Boulevard, Suite 745 Los Angeles, CA 90015 Tel: 213.744.9434 Fax: 800.207.3560 President: Michele Siqueiros

Sacramento Office 1512 14th Street Sacramento, CA 95814 Tel: 916.443.1681 Fax: 916.443.1682 Executive Vice President: Jessie Ryan

www.collegecampaign.org



www.facebook.com/collegecampaign



www.twitter.com/CollegeOpp



Thomas A. Saenz (Chair) President & General Counsel, Mexican American Legal Defense and Educational Fund (MALDEF)

Gary K. Hart (Vice Chair) Former California Secretary of Education & State Senator

Marcus A. Allen (Treasurer) Partner, Englander Knabe & Allen

Lisa A. Smith (Secretary) Managing Director/Head of the Pacific Region, Siebert Brandford Shank & Co., L.L.C.

George Boggs

Superintendent-President Emeritus, Palomar College; President & CEO Emeritus, American Association of Community Colleges

Camila Chavez Executive Director, Dolores Huerta Foundation Pamela H. David Executive Director, Walter & Elise Haas Fund

Robert Lapsley President, California Business Roundtable

William G. McGinnis Trustee, Butte-Glenn Community College District

Rory O'Sullivan Policy and Research Director, Young Invincibles

Eloy Ortiz Oakley Superintendent-President , Long Beach City College

Darline Robles Professor of Clinical Education USC Rossier School of Education

Frederick R. Ruiz Co-Founder & Chairman Emeritus, Ruiz Food Products; Regent, University of California

David Wolf Co-Founder, Campaign for College Opportunity